THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001149

RECEIVED

DEC 14 2015

SC Court of Appeals

PNC Bank, N.A., successor to RBC Bank (USA),

Respondent,

v.

Liberty Cottages, LLC; GW Dorchester, LLC;
USS Clarksville, LLC; Liberty Cottages Land, LLC;
Royal Beach Properties, LLC; The Brothers of SC, LLC;
Deborah Rice-Marko a/k/a Deborah G. Rice-Marko;
Evan R. Marko and John E. Marko, Jr.,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Robert E. Stepp (S.C. Bar #5335)
William H. Jordan (S.C. Bar #76172)
Benjamin R. Gooding (S.C. Bar #100620)

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in ruling that Appellants waived their right to a jury trial even though Appellants' meritorious counterclaims attack the enforceability of the agreements containing the jury trial waivers?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an order granting Respondent's motion to strike Appellants' jury demand. In this case, Respondent seeks to foreclose on mortgages and collect on notes and personal guaranties executed by Appellants. But, this is not a garden variety foreclosure action. Appellants have asserted legal counterclaims claiming that Respondent procured the agreements through bad faith and misrepresentation and that Respondent itself has breached the agreements. For that reason, Appellants argue Respondent is not entitled to enforce the subject agreements. In moving to strike Appellants' jury demand, Respondent relied on jury trial waivers contained within those agreements, the very agreements which Appellants contend are not enforceable as a result of Respondent's bad faith, misrepresentations, and prior material breach.

In this case, the Court must decide, on facts that are unique to this case, whether jury trial waivers can apply to counterclaims when the counterclaims question the enforceability of the contracts that contain the jury trial waivers. The trial court incorrectly answered this question in the affirmative, and this Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2005, Appellant Deborah Rice-Marko ("Rice-Marko") opened a line of credit with RBC Bank ("RBC"), predecessor to Respondent PNC Bank, N.A. ("PNC"). (R. p. 48 ¶ 87 ; R. p. 1649 ¶ 2; R. p. 873, line 8 – R. p. 874, line 8.) In 2007, Rice-Marko increased the amount of the line of credit and the line of credit was secured by a pledge of securities, including stock in Wachovia Bank. (R. p. 1649 ¶ 3; R. pp. 1307-1323.) By late 2007, Rice-Marko and entities she controlled had four real estate loans and the line of credit with RBC. (R. p. 1650 ¶ 4.) The loans were independent of one another, had varying maturity dates,

and the bank agreed to omit any cross default or cross collateralization provisions from the loan documents. (R. p. 1650 ¶ 4; see also, R. pp. 92-570.) By the end of 2007, Appellant The Brothers of SC, LLC (“Brothers of SC”), an entity owned by Appellants Evan R. Marko and John E. Marko, Jr. (Rice-Marko’s sons), and in which Rice-Marko had no interest, had two real estate loans unrelated and separate from the loans Rice-Marko and her entities had. (R. p. 1650 ¶ 5.) The bank maintained separate files for the Appellants’ various loans and did not consider the loans to be related. (R. p. 1100, lines 13-22.)

In the second half of 2007, the value of Wachovia stock began to decline. (R. p. 876, lines 12-15; R. p. 1650 ¶ 6.) At the request of RBC, Rice-Marko agreed to draw on a home equity line of credit secured by her personal residence in order to reduce the balance of the line of credit and maintain an agreeable loan-to-value ratio. (R. p. 860, line 23 – R. p. 861, line 4; R. p. 1650 ¶ 6.) In March of 2008, Rice-Marko pledged more than 23,000 additional shares of Wachovia stock to the RBC line of credit. (R. p. 1650 ¶ 7; R. p. 1329.)

Wachovia’s stock again declined in June of 2008, leading to margin calls from RBC. (R. p. 1651 ¶ 9; R. p. 1331.) Rice-Marko was proactive and responsive to the effect the declining stock value had on the loan-to-value covenants of the line of credit. Specifically, she made significant principal payments on the line of credit by drawing on other lines of credit that she, or entities she owned, had with RBC. (R. p. 1651 ¶ 9.) Rice-Marko also used proceeds from her late mother’s life insurance policies. (R. p. 1651 ¶ 10.) Rice-Marko reduced the outstanding balance of the line of credit from \$5.3 million in June 2008 to \$1.8 million in January 2009. (R. p. 1651 ¶ 10.)

Despite Rice-Marko’s good faith dealings with the bank concerning the impact of the decline in the value of Wachovia stock on the line of credit, in the fall of 2008, there

was a decisive and conscious shift in RBC's behavior and dealings with Rice-Marko. RBC shifted its focus from ensuring there was adequate collateral for the line of credit to plotting to enhance its security and its overall position with respect to all of Appellants' loans by requiring Appellants to cross-collateralize and cross-default their previously unrelated existing loans, loans that were not in default and that reflected substantial equity in the real estate that secured them. The sole purpose of this required modification was to obtain more favorable terms for the bank. On September 30, 2008, Stephen Draper wrote to Michael Baker that RBC "need[s] to consider all options to bring our Wachovia exposure to a cross collateralized position with other available collateral to improve our overall collateral position." (CR_001.) In October 2008, RBC informed Rice-Marko of its desire to restructure all of the loans so that they were cross-collateralized. (R. p. 1652 ¶ 13; see also, e.g., R. p. 1333.)

Having no reason to suspect RBC's ulterior motive and continuing to focus on ensuring compliance with the loan-to-value covenants contained in the line of credit, Rice-Marko continued to be proactive and attempted, in good faith, to negotiate with RBC to determine possibilities for replacing or enhancing the collateral securing the line of credit. Namely, Rice-Marko suggested that RBC finance a shopping center she desired to purchase in Asheville, North Carolina as a part of a 1031 exchange that would have provided substantial additional equity and would have produced additional income to help with payments on the line of credit. (R. p. 999, lines 18-25.) There were significant delays in RBC's consideration of Rice-Marko's request (see R. p. 1335) and RBC ultimately denied the request. (R. 1000, lines 5-8.)

Unreasonably having rejected all of Rice-Marko's suggestions and attempts to address the loan-to-value issue in the line of credit, RBC continued to pursue its objective of enhancing its collateral position with respect to all of Appellants' loans. RBC sent Rice-Marko loan modification documents in December 2008. (R. p. 1652 ¶ 14.) Those documents included much more favorable language for the lender, including interest rate increases, higher fees, waivers and releases, synchronization of all loan maturity dates, unlimited guaranties, and cross-collateralization and cross-default for Rice-Marko's loans and for her children's previously unrelated loans. (R. p. 1652 ¶ 14; see also R. pp. 92-570.) The loan documents also required additional quarterly payments of \$100,000 to be applied to the line of credit. (R. p. 1652 ¶ 14; see also R. pp. 92-570.) Rice-Marko had not agreed to any of these terms at the time the bank presented the modification documents and, in fact, the bank had not even discussed the proposed new terms with Rice-Marko. (R. p. 1652 ¶ 14.)

Appellants opposed the proposed modifications and, in response, RBC began using unfair and heavy-handed practices to convince Appellants to sign the modification documents. For example, Michael Baker, a representative of RBC, informed Rice-Marko that RBC would not renew any of Rice-Marko's outstanding loans or the loans of her family members as they matured if she did not agree to the bank's newly demanded loan terms. (R. pp. 1652-1653 ¶ 15-16.) According to Baker, failure to renew the notes ultimately would result in bankruptcy for Rice-Marko and her sons. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 16.) Baker informed Rice-Marko that unless she and her sons agreed to the cross-collateralization and cross-default documents, the bank would "foreclose and force [her] and [her] family into financial ruin, bankruptcy." (R. p. 990, lines 6-8.) Rice-Marko

requested that the loan be referred to RBC's workout department, but Baker misrepresented to her that there was not an internal workout group within RBC. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 17.) Baker informed Rice-Marko that "special assets was foreclosure" and that "if [she] went to special assets . . . there would be a ratcheting up of fees and interest rates and that [special assets] would kill [her] with high rates and fees." (R. p. 991, line 6 – R. p. 992, line 4.) Rice-Marko advised RBC that she could not afford to make the \$100,000 quarterly payments that were included in the revised documents. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 18.) She was assured that RBC would work with her if she had trouble making the payments. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 18.)

By threatening Rice-Marko with the bankruptcy of her children, and by threatening Rice-Marko's children with the financial ruin of their mother, the bank left Appellants with no choice but to agree to RBC's demands. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 18.) Indeed, RBC had informed Rice-Marko that no alternative solution was available (R. p. 1653 ¶ 18) and at no time did the bank propose any other solutions. (R. p. 1113, lines 7-13.) In fact, Michael Baker informed Rice-Marko that the bank's proposed revisions were non-negotiable. (See R. p. 1341, stating "[t]he documents will need to be standard" and that he "can't get approval to modify documents in this type restructure situation"; see also R. p. 996, lines 15-20; R. p. 1653 ¶ 16.)

Rice-Marko made three \$100,000 payments over the course of 2009, but could not afford to make the final \$100,000 payment in December of that year. (R. p. 1653 ¶ 19.) Rice-Marko requested that RBC work with her, as the bank had previously assured her it would. (R. p. 1653 ¶¶ 18-19.) The bank's response was to request a fourth mortgage on Rice-Marko's personal residence. (R. p. 1004, line 7 – R. p. 1005, line 4; R. p. 1653 ¶ 19.)

In May 2010, all of the now cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized loans were transferred to RBC's Asset Resolution Group for the purpose of a workout. (R. p. 1654 ¶ 20.) This was the very group RBC had previously represented to Rice-Marko did not exist. (R. p. 1654 ¶ 20.) According to its own policy, the goal of RBC's workout group was "to be a best-in-class professional workout/restructuring group that is viewed by clients as being understanding, creative, and fair in providing solutions." (CR_053 – CR_068.) As Rice-Marko would soon find out, however, RBC's Asset Resolution Group was not focused on working with the Appellants to find a creative business solution, but on maximizing the amount of cash the bank obtained from Appellants, making the contractual terms much more advantageous to the bank, and, ultimately, exiting the relationship, while pretending to work with Appellants.

In June 2011, PNC entered into an agreement to purchase RBC. (R. p. 1654 ¶ 22.) At about the same time, RBC requested that Appellants execute a forbearance agreement for all of the loans. (R. p. 1654 ¶ 23.) Believing they had no alternative, Appellants agreed to the Forbearance Agreement, pursuant to which all of the loans matured simultaneously in July 2013. (R. p. 1654 ¶ 23.) The Forbearance Agreement was executed on July 15, 2011. (CR_069 – CR_098.)

RBC's motivation for entering into the Forbearance Agreement is clear. Through the Forbearance Agreement, RBC obtained an acknowledgment of default, further cross-collateralization of the once independent loans, waivers of defenses, and waivers of the right to a jury trial. (R. p. 1125, line 13 – R. p. 1126, line 25.) Moreover, under the Forbearance Agreement, RBC would receive payments of \$33,000 per month (R. p. 1129, lines 3-6) thus giving the bank a chance "to collect what money [it] could" during the

forbearance period. (R. p. 1140, lines 7-18.) RBC used the Forbearance Agreement as an opportunity to greatly enhance its position with no expectation that the Forbearance Agreement would serve as a solution to Appellants' financial hardships. (See, e.g., R. p. CR_099, stating Rice-Marko is "in a position to achieve higher returns on these assets than the Bank would in a foreclosure action.")

In fact, as is now evident, at the time RBC entered into the Forbearance Agreement, it had every intention of exiting the banking relationship with Appellants, although this information was withheld from Appellants. As Bill Harrington confirmed during his deposition, RBC had determined it was in an exit strategy before the parties entered into the Forbearance Agreement. (R. p. 1147, lines 10-23.) That RBC wanted to exit the relationship is further evidenced by the fact that, well prior to the execution of the Forbearance Agreement, Appellants' loans were on non-accrual status. (R. p. 1137, lines 8-13.) As Harrington confirmed, nonaccrual status signifies that "the bank no longer believes a collection of full amount of principal and interest is going to happen." (R. p. 1118, lines 1-8.) Harrington confirmed that RBC's decision to exit the relationship happened around the same time as when Appellants' loans went on nonaccrual status. (R. p. 1350, lines 13-16.)

In connection with PNC's agreement to purchase RBC, PNC conducted due diligence on RBC's outstanding loans, including Appellants' loans. (R. p. 1155, line 16 – R. p. 1156, line 20.) The due diligence involved assessing the financial condition of the borrowers and the guarantors. (R. p. 1157, lines 4-11.) On January 23, 2012, during the due diligence period, Harrington asked Rice-Marko for financial information that PNC was requesting. (R. p. 1376; R. p. 1141, line 25 – R. p. 1142, line 14.) Harrington explained

that the request was “routine due diligence.” (R. p. 1376; R. p. 1143, lines 2-12.) Rice-Marko provided the requested information. Although PNC’s “appetite for information” was “insatiable” (CR_100-102), PNC did not request additional information regarding Appellants’ loans during the due diligence period.

PNC completed the acquisition of RBC in March of 2012. (R. p. 1655 ¶ 26.) Shortly after closing, Harrington attended a meeting with PNC representatives during which he discussed all of his credits. (R. p. 1144, lines 10-20.) Shortly thereafter, also in March 2012, Harrington called Rice-Marko and warned her that PNC did not like the Forbearance Agreement and that PNC would be looking for a reason to declare a default. (R. p. 1655 ¶ 25.) Harrington specifically mentioned the failure to provide financial information as an issue that PNC might seize on to declare a technical default. (R. p. 1655 ¶ 25.)

It is evident that PNC did not like the Forbearance Agreement (see, e.g., CR_105 (“terms of the Forbearance Agreement *only require*, for all loans, a monthly payment of \$33,000”) (emphasis added)) and was looking for a way to exit the relationship from the moment it acquired RBC in March 2012. As Harrington stated during his deposition, PNC “liked very short-term forbearance or extensions in the – in the 90 to 180-day-range as opposed to a two-year type thing.” (R. p. 1145, line 19 – R. p. 1146, line 2.) Moreover, like RBC, PNC had determined shortly after its acquisition of RBC that Appellants’ loans were nonaccrual loans and had decided its strategy would be to exit the relationship. (CR_103 – CR_109; R. p. 1173, lines 19-24; R. p. 1174, lines 19-25; R. p. 1176, lines 5-8.) As noted in the August 2012 PNC Special Assets Report, PNC’s strategy was simple: “Determine when we can terminate the forbearance agreement.” (CR_108.)

In June of 2012, at PNC's request, Rice-Marko, as she had previously, provided the bank with substantial financial and other information relating to the properties. (R. p. 1655 ¶ 27.) Within days, Rice-Marko was contacted by a known note purchaser, Kenneth Nix, who inquired about each of the collateral properties held by PNC. (R. p. 1655-1656 ¶ 29.) Rice-Marko was concerned that PNC, in its effort to market the properties for sale, had disclosed to third parties the confidential information Rice-Marko had provided. (R. p. 1655-1656 ¶ 28-29.) PNC continued to press for additional financial information from Rice-Marko. (R. p. 1158, line 15 – R. p. 1159, line 7.) Despite its knowledge of Rice-Marko's concerns over the breach of confidentiality, PNC never offered to maintain the confidentiality of the financial information it was requesting. (R. p. 1656 ¶ 30-31.) On July 9, 2012, Stephen Wursta and Elizabeth Paulson met with Rice-Marko and, among other things, attempted to obtain from Rice-Marko additional financial information. (R. p. 1161, lines 7-10; R. p. 1656 ¶ 31.) When Rice-Marko repeatedly voiced her concerns regarding the confidentiality of those documents, the bank's representatives told Rice-Marko they could "do this the easy way" or "the hard way," and left the meeting abruptly. (R. p. 1165, lines 20-23; R. p. 1656 ¶ 31.)

With Rice-Marko concerned about the confidentiality of her financial information and unwilling to provide it to the bank without the bank's reasonable assurance that confidentiality would be maintained, PNC orchestrated an opportunity to get out of the Forbearance Agreement. On November 26, 2012, PNC issued a default letter to Rice-Marko, claiming she was in technical default under the Forbearance Agreement for failure to provide requested financial information. (R. p. 1657 ¶ 33; R. pp. 1384-1389.) At that time, no payment default existed. (R. p. 1208, lines 4-7.) The default letter accelerated the

debt and demanded payment, within ten days, of \$20,065,815. (R. p. 1384-1389.) Appellants were unable to pay the amount demanded and, on February 15, 2013, PNC issued a second default letter for Appellants' failure to pay the amount demanded. (R. p. 1657 ¶ 35; R. pp. 1395-1398.)

Through heavy-handed tactics indicative of bad faith, the bank coerced Appellants to modify loan agreements so that the bank could obtain various waivers of Appellants' rights, cross-collateralization and cross-default provisions, and synchronized maturity dates. The bank then used a non-material and technical default to accelerate the full balance of all the loans within ten days. This happened exactly as RBC's representative Bill Harrington had warned Rice-Marko it would just six months prior, when he warned her that the bank did not like the Forbearance Agreement and might seize on the failure to provide financial information to declare a technical default. (R. p. 1655 ¶ 25.) When Appellants were unable to pay the full balance in ten days, the bank used that failure to pay as the basis for a second default letter and, ultimately, the trigger for this litigation.

In May of 2013, PNC filed complaints in Charleston, Dorchester, and Florence Counties seeking to foreclose on real property located in those counties and seeking to collect on personal guaranties associated with the notes and mortgages at issue. Appellants answered and counterclaimed, contesting PNC's right to foreclose on the properties and collect on the personal guaranties, and contending that PNC, through its bad faith, misrepresentations, breaches of the agreements, and other misconduct, is precluded from enforcing the subject agreements and is liable to Appellants for actual and punitive damages. (See R. pp. 815-854; R. pp. 1649-1707.) Appellants asserted breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of duty of confidentiality,

conspiracy, negligence, misrepresentation/fraud, and unfair trade practice causes of action in their counterclaim. (R. pp. 826-834 ¶¶ 44-97.) In connection with their counterclaims, Appellants seek a determination that all “duties or responsibilities of [Appellants] to [Respondent] are discharged and that all agreements between [Respondent] and [Appellants], including but not limited to all notes, guaranties, and mortgages are null and void.” (R. p. 833.) In June of 2014, the Charleston, Dorchester, and Florence courts entered orders pursuant to which the legal claims and the equitable claims were bifurcated, the three cases were consolidated for the purpose of resolving the legal claims, and the equitable claims were stayed pending resolution of the claims at law. (R. pp. 5-6; R. pp. 1-4; R. pp. 7-10.)

Because Appellants asserted legal counterclaims, Appellants demanded a jury trial. (R. p. 815.) Respondent moved to strike Appellants’ jury demand and, by orders dated April 29, 2015 and May 12, 2015, the trial court granted Respondent’s motion. (R. pp. 13-15 and R. pp. 16-19.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass’n v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014). The Court of Appeals “reviews questions of law *de novo*,” Mitul Enters., L.P. v. Beaufort County Assessor, 410 S.C. 430, 433, 764 S.E.2d 720, 721-22 (Ct. App. 2014), “with no particular deference to the circuit court’s findings.” Blackburn, 407 S.C. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 441.

ARGUMENT

In response to Respondent’s foreclosure complaint, Appellants asserted counterclaims, arguing Respondent is not entitled to enforce the agreements entered into

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