THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.,  
Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-10-2624

Appellate Case No. 2015-001149

RECEIVED

DEC 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

PNC Bank, N.A., successor to RBC Bank (USA),

v.

Liberty Cottages, LLC; GW Dorchester, LLC; USS  
Clarksville, LLC; Liberty Cottages Land, LLC; Royal  
Beach Properties, LLC; The Brothers of SC, LLC;  
Deborah Rice-Marko a/k/a Deborah G. Rice-Marko;  
Evan R. Marko; and John E. Marko, Jr.,

Respondent,

Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
**PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR TO RBC BANK (USA)**

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

Moreover, other courts have expressly rejected the *Faria* ruling. For example, in *Chesterfield Exchange, LLC v. Sportsman's Warehouse*, 528 F. Supp. 2d 710, 715 (E.D. Mich. 2007), Sportsman's Warehouse argued that it was fraudulently induced to enter a lease containing a jury trial waiver and proposed that a jury decide at least the fraudulent inducement claim before the other issues would be decided. The court rejected this proposed procedure and found that *Faria* "fail(ed) to recognize that an agreement as to the mode of resolving a controversy may be completely unaffected by a general claim of fraud in the inducement," and "the fact that an *allegation* of fraud in the inducement should not be treated as *proof* of such fraud." 528 F. Supp. 2d at 715 (emphasis in original). The *Chesterfield Exchange* court ruled that Sportsman's Warehouse's jury

demand would be stricken because it had not made any allegation that its jury trial waiver itself had been procured by fraud. *Id.* Likewise, the Southern District of New York was “unconvinced” by the *Faria* holding. *Russell-Stanley Holdings, Inc. v. Buonanno*, 327 F. Supp. 2d 252, 257 (S.D.N.Y. 2002). In *Russell-Stanley Holdings*, the plaintiff argued that if it was “successful in rescinding the (contract) the jury waiver provision in it would also be void.” *Id.* However, the plaintiff did not “contend that the jury waiver provision . . . (was) otherwise invalid.” *Id.* Because the plaintiff failed to challenge the jury trial waiver itself, the court enforced the waiver. *Id.* This decision comports with *Carolina Care Plan*, 361 S.C. at 550-51, 606 S.E.2d at 755, and *Great Western Coal*, 312 S.C. at 562-63, 437 S.E.2d at 24, addressing arbitration provisions and finding the provision requiring adjudication by a method other than by jury has to be flawed in and of itself.

The other case cited by Appellants, *C&C Wholesale, Inc. v. Fusco Mgmt. Corp.*, 564 So.2d 1259, 1261 (Fl. Ct. App. 1990), also does not support their request for a jury trial on the enforceability of the loan agreements before other issues are decided. *C&C Wholesale* involved a jury trial waiver in a lease between one of the plaintiffs and one of the defendants. *Id.* The court enforced the waiver as to the claims between that plaintiff and defendant but found it did not apply to the other parties in the case who were not signatories to the lease. *Id.* The case did not involve any claim related to the enforceability of the lease or the jury trial waiver contained therein. *Id.* Moreover, Appellants do not dispute that they signed the numerous loan documents containing jury trial waivers here. Therefore, *C&C Wholesale* does not provide the support for Appellants’ position as they suggest.

South Carolina courts and numerous other jurisdictions agree that because Appellants have not specifically challenged the enforceability of the jury trial waivers contained in the January 2009 Modifications and the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments, those jury trial waivers may be enforced despite Appellants' challenge to these documents generally.

**C. Even if Appellants are successful in rescinding the January 2009 Modifications and the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments, Appellants are still bound by the prior loan documents containing jury trial waivers.**

The language in the January 2009 Modifications and July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments supports the enforcement of the jury trial waivers in the loan documents existing prior to these modifications should the modifications or any provisions therein ultimately be found to be invalid. For example, the January 2009 Modifications expressly state that "except as herein modified, the terms and provisions of the Contract (defined as the prior promissory notes and any and all other loan and security documents related to the notes) and the individual instruments, documents and agreements that make up the Contract shall remain unchanged and the Contract, as herein modified, shall continue in full force and effect as therein and herein written."

(Complaint Ex. G ¶ D; R. 159.) The January 2009 Modifications further state:

Nothing contained in this Modification Agreement shall in any way . . . waive, annul, vary or affect any provision, condition, covenant and agreement contained in the Contract (again, defined as the prior promissory notes and any and all other loan and security documents related to the notes), nor affect or impair any rights, powers and remedies under the Contract, except as herein specifically modified to do any one or more of the foregoing. If any provision in this Modification Agreement shall be interpreted or applied by a court or other tribunal with personal and subject matter jurisdiction over the parties hereto and the Contract, as modified, so as to . . . do any one or more of any of the foregoing, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent it . . . causes any of such other

consequences, or the application thereof shall be in a manner and to an extent which does not . . . result in the occurrence of any of the other consequences.

(Complaint Ex. G § 2; R. 159.) Likewise, the Amended and Restated Notes executed in connection with the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement similarly provide that:

This Note amends and restates the terms of the Original Note (defined as the promissory note given at origination as subsequently amended or modified). This amendment and restatement is not intended by the parties to be, nor shall it be construed as, a novation, termination, waiver, release, satisfaction, accord or accord and satisfaction of the Original Note or the indebtedness evidenced thereby. This Note is secured by all . . . rights and remedies securing the Original Note and evidences all indebtedness previously advanced and unpaid under the Original Note.

Each provision of this Note will be interpreted in a manner so as to be valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Note is held invalid under such law by a court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction, the provision will be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Note, or the application thereof will be in a manner and to an extent permissible under applicable law.

(Complaint Ex. H p. 3; R. 169.) Thus, if either the 2009 Modifications or 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments are found to be invalid, the prior loan documents which also contain jury trial waivers would remain effective.

South Carolina law also requires this result. Throughout their brief, Appellants repeatedly note that they seek rescission as a remedy. Appellants' Brief pp. 1, 11-12, 15-16, 18-20, and 30-32. However, it is clear under South Carolina law that when rescission is awarded as a remedy, the relationship of the parties must be restored to the position immediately preceding the agreement being rescinded. "In the absence of fraud, rescission is appropriate only if both parties can be returned to the status quo prior to the contract." *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 517, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826-27 (2009) (*citing*

*King v. Oxford*, 282 S.C. 307, 313, 318 S.E.2d 125, 129 (Ct.App.1984)). When rescission is granted and where the parties previously had a contractual relationship, that previous contract would be restored. *See* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 279 cmt. b (1981) (“[T]o the extent that the substituted contract is vulnerable on such grounds as mistake, misrepresentation, duress or unconscionability, recourse may be had on the original duty. Thus, if the substituted contract is voidable, it discharges the original duty until avoidance, but on avoidance of the substituted contract the original duty is again enforceable.”). Here, Appellants have made no allegations of fraud. Instead, they have challenged those two sets of agreements, the January 2009 Modifications and the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments, which effectuated cross-collateralization. If those agreements were to be rescinded, the previous loan documents and jury trial waivers would remain enforceable as a matter of law.

Appellants have put forth no independent basis to challenge the validity or enforceability of the prior loan documents or the jury trial waivers therein. As set forth above, at least 84 loan documents contain jury trial waivers, and Appellants first waived their jury trial rights in 2001. Excluding the January 2009 Modifications and July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments, Appellants waived their right to a jury trial for each of the nine loans in 62 other loan documents. (PNC’s Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Strike Jury Demand & Refer Case to Master-in-Equity Ex. B; R. 1230-63.) Thus, Appellants are still subject to loan documents containing valid jury trial waivers even if the January 2009 Modifications and July 2011 Amendments are rescinded.

For example, if the January 2009 Modifications and July 2011 Amendments were rescinded, the Royal Beach Loan would revert back to the original promissory note dated

May 19, 2000, as it had been modified from time to time prior to January 2009. (PNC's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Strike Jury Demand & Refer Case to Master-in-Equity Ex. B at pp. 1-4; R. 1230-33; Promissory Note by Deborah Rice-Marko in the amount of \$2,500,000 dated May 19, 2000; R. 415-17.) More specifically, the Modification Agreements dated March 23, 2006, August 30, 2006, July 18, 2007, August 26, 2008, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated August 26, 2008, and the Unconditional Guaranty Agreement dated August 26, 2008—each of which contained a waiver of the right to a jury trial in any action arising from or related to the Royal Beach promissory note and all security documents with respect to that note—would be revived. (PNC's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Strike Jury Demand & Refer Case to Master-in-Equity Ex. B at pp. 1-4; R. 1230-33; Modification Agreement dated March 23, 2006; R. 1230; Modification Agreement dated August 30, 2006; R. 1230; Modification Agreement dated July 18, 2007; R. 1230-31; Modification Agreement dated August 26, 2008; R. 1231; Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated August 26, 2008; R. 429-434 and 1231; Unconditional Guaranty Agreement dated August 26, 2008; R. 458-68 and 1231.) The Change in Terms Agreement dated February 19, 2010 (after the January 2009 Modifications but before the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement)—which contains a waiver of the right to a jury trial in **any** action between PNC and Royal Beach Properties, LLC—would also be revived. (PNC's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Strike Jury Demand & Refer Case to Master-in-Equity Ex. B at pp. 1-4; R. 1230-33; Change in Terms Agreement dated February 19, 2010; R. 1231-32) Likewise, all of the other eight loans would revert to the original promissory notes, as they had been modified prior to the January 2009 Modifications and/or after the January 2009 Modifications but before

the July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments. (PNC's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Strike Jury Demand & Refer Case to Master-in-Equity Ex. B at pp. 5-34; R. 1234-63.)

Accordingly, the trial court properly held that Appellants' counterclaims do not attack the enforceability of every single one of these previous loan documents and, therefore, Appellants waived their right to a jury trial for each of the nine loans in the 62 loan documents which have not been challenged.

**D. Appellants' argument is self-serving and inconsistent.**

Appellants argue that the jury trial waivers in the parties' January 2009 Modifications and July 2011 Forbearance Agreement and Amendments will not be enforceable if they are successful on their counterclaims—yet their counterclaims seek relief for breach of those very same contracts. Appellants cannot maintain causes of action for breach of those contracts against Respondent while also seeking rescission of those very same contracts and the jury trial waivers contained therein. *See Stonhard, Inc. v. Carolina Flooring Specialists, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 156, 160-61, 621 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2005) (noting that the court will not hold a party liable for breach of contract where a party alleged and the court agreed that the contract was void and unenforceable); *First Equity Inv. Corp. v. United Service Corp. of Anderson*, 299 S.C. 491, 497-98, 386 S.E.2d 245, 249 (1989) (“A rescission disaffirms the contract but an action for damages affirms the contract. An action on one theory must allege what an action on the other theory must deny and so is opposite to the other. . . . Accordingly, a party who has elected a remedy which abrogates the contract cannot also choose another remedy which affirms the contract.”). Moreover, Appellants' position would render a jury trial waiver virtually

meaningless in any agreement because a party seeking to avoid its effect would only need to assert that the agreement is unenforceable to obtain a jury trial. This runs directly contrary to *Blackburn*.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the circuit court properly found that Appellants have waived their jury trial waivers in the subject loan documents and, therefore, are not entitled to a jury trial on their counterclaims in this matter.

**II. Even if Appellants had not expressly waived their right to a jury trial in the subject loan documents, Appellants are still not entitled to a jury trial on their counterclaims.**

Appellants also argue that they have asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims that give rise to their right to a jury trial. Appellants' Brief pp. 13-17. This issue has not been preserved for appellate review, and Appellants have not asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims in this matter in any event. Moreover, even if Appellants had asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims, those claims would be subject to the valid jury trial waivers discussed at length above.

**A. Appellants' argument that they have asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims has not been preserved for appellate review.**

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, with few exceptions, it must be raised **and ruled upon** by the trial judge." *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 41, 619 S.E.2d 437, 449 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. Pship.*, 359 S.C. 505, 511, 598 S.E.2d 712, 715 (2004)) (emphasis added). "When a trial court makes a general ruling on an issue, but does not address the specific argument raised by a party, that party must make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the trial court to rule on the issue in order to preserve it for appeal." *Id.* (citing *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991)).

The issue of whether Appellants have asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims entitling them to a jury trial has never been ruled upon by the circuit court. (Order Denying Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, Denying Respondent's Motion to Refer Case to Master, and Granting Respondent's Motion to Strike Jury Demand at pp. 2-3; R. 14-15; Amended Order at pp. 2-4; R. 17-19.) Here, the circuit court's decision was based entirely on the jury trial waivers in the loan documents. (Amended Order at pp. 3-4; R. 18-19.) The circuit court did not discuss whether the counterclaims were legal or equitable and expressly declined "to reach the issue of whether the counterclaims are compulsory or permissive." (Amended Order at p. 3; R. 18.) In fact, Appellants argued to the circuit court that it need not determine whether their counterclaims are permissive or compulsory and need only decide whether the jury trial waivers in the loan documents were sufficient. (Appellants' Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Strike Jury Demand and Refer to Master-in-Equity pp. 13-14; R. 1285-86.) Further, Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion related **solely** to the circuit court's determination that Appellants had executed valid, enforceable jury trial waivers —not whether Appellants had asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims. (Appellants' Motion Pursuant to SCRC 59(e); R. 1502-07.)

Because this issue has not been ruled upon by the circuit court and Appellants did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking for a ruling on this issue, it has not been preserved for appellate review. Therefore, this Court should decline to rule on Appellants' argument that they have asserted compulsory, legal counterclaims that give rise to their right to a jury trial in this matter.

**B. Appellants have not asserted legal, compulsory counterclaims in this matter.**

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